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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
'NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
-SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, | Civil Action No.

Plaintiff, L
COMPLAINT
vs.

INC,,
| Defendant.
Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the ‘fCommi'ssion”) alleges:
SUMMARY OF THE ACTION | |
1. Fromvat least 2000 through 2004, certain former officers of Brocade Communicatiens
Systems, Inc. (“Brocade” of “the Company”) — a San Jose-based computer networking eompeny -

caused the Company to significantly and fraudulently overstate its publicly reported income. These
actions were primarily carried out through the activities of the formef CEO, who routinely provided
extra remuneration to employees through backdated stock options while falsifying documents in order -
to avoid recording the required compensation expenses on the Company’s ﬁnahcial Statemente.'

2. Pursuant to well-settled accounting principles in effect throughout the relevant period,

Brocade informed its shareholders and the investing public that it did not record compensation _
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expenses-for stock option grants to employees because those grants were made at the curtent market
pﬁce, i.e. “at-the-money.” However, in truth, certain individuals at Brocade were regularly gtanting
employee stock options that were “in-the-money,” and for which it was required to record an expense
in its financial statements. In order to hide the negative impact these expenses Wonld have upon
Brocade’s reported income, such individuals falsified records to create the appearance that the opticns
had been granted at the market price on an earlier date. bBy falsifying the dates on which options were
purportedly granted Brocade reported materially understated expenses, overstated income, and
falsely represented in certain Commission filings that the Company had incurred no costs for options
grants.

3. As aresult of the acts alleged in this Complaint, Brocade violated the antiﬁand

provisions of the federal securities laws, falsified books and records, and falsely reported its financial

results. The Commission secks an order enjoining Brocade from future violations of the securities
laws, requiring it to disgorge ill-gotten gains and pay civil monetary penalties, and providing other A
appropriate relief. |

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction'over, this action pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15U.S.C: §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a), and Sections 21(d), 21(e) '
and 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) 78u(e) and
78aa. The defendant, d1rectly or 1nd1rectly, made use of the means and instrumentalities of 1nterstate
commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange in connection with the
acts, practices and courses of business alleged in this comblaint

5. This district is an appropriate venue for this action under Section 22 of the Securities
Act, 15U.S.C. § 77v, and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.'C. § 78aa. AThe tfansactions, .acts,v

practices and courses of business constituting the violations al_leged herein occurred within the

Northern District of California, and the defendant may be found in this district.

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT
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6. Assignment to the San Francisco Division is appropriate pursuant to Civil Local Rule
-2(e) because the related litigation of SEC v. Reyes et al., Case No. C-06- 4435 CRB s pendlng in
that Division.

DEFENDANT

7. Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. is a Delaware corporation based in San Jose,
California, that develops and sells storage networking products. Since May 1999 when it completed

its initial public offering of stock, Brocade’s securities have been traded on the Nasdaq National

‘Market, and the Company has had common stock registered with the Commission under Section

12(g) of the Exchange Act. At all times relevant to this action, Brocade used a fiscal year ending on
the last Saturday in October... |
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Brocade Misrepresented Its Employee Stock Optidn Program

8. Brocade became a public cornpany in May 1999 and quickly experienced substantial
growth in revenues and in the size of its operation. Between October 1999 and October 2002
Brocade increased the size of its workforce more than six-fold, hiring over 1,150 employees.

9. To recruit and retain key employees, Brocade fnade ﬁberal use of ernpioYee stock
options as a form of compensation. The stock options gave employees the nght to buy BfOCade’s
étock at a set price, called the exercise price or “strike” price. The value of the 'options to the
emplojrees increased to the extent the market price of Brocade’s stock exceeded the strike price of the
options.

10. Under the accounting rules in effect from the time Brocade became a public company
in 1999 through 2004, U.S. publie companies were permitted to grant stock options to employees
w1thout recordlng an expense so long as the strike prlce of the option was at or above the market’s
closing price for the stock on the day the options were granted. However, for any options granted “in-
the-money” — that is, with a strike price below the market price when granted — public companies
were tequired te record a compensation-expense in their financial statements. Consequently, granting

in-the-money options to employees eould have a significant impact on the expenses and income (or
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loss) reported to the shareholders of a public compény. The accounting rules also specified that a
company must recognize compensation expense if it granted options to a non-employee.
11. Asa public company, Brocade filed with the Commission annual reports that included

audited financial statements, certified by the Company’s outside auditors. Brocade’s public filings

.affirmatively stated that the Company accounted for its stock options granted to employees in

accordance with generally accepted accqunting principles, also known as GAAP, which are the
accounting convéntions; standards, and rules required for preparing financial statements. GAAP
reqﬁired an expense to be recorded for stock options granted at prices below the market value for the
stock on thé date of the grant. Brocade made the statements about accounting for stock options in
accordance with GAAP in the notes to its audited ﬁnancial statements, included in its annual reports
to sharehoiders, filed with the Cqmmission on Form 10-K, for its fiscal years 2000, 2001, 2002 and
2003. Brocade’s annual reports on Form 10-K for its fiscal years 2000, 2001, and 2002 represented -
that, with the exception of certain pre-IPO optiéns granted in 1999, “[n]b deferred stock |
compensation relafed to any other periods had been recorded” Also, Brocade’s annual report filedon
Form 10-K for fiscal yez;r _2003 represented. that, following this rule, the Company did not record any
expense for stock options bec;ause the strike price for the options granted always equaled the trading
price on the date of grants. A

12.  The same claim, that Brocade accounted for its stock options granted to employees in

' accordance with GAAP, and that no cdmpensation expense was recorded, was set forth in the notes to

the unaudited financial statements included with each of its quarterly reports filed on‘_'F orm 10-Q for
the quarters endéd April 26, 2003, July 26, 2003, January 24, 2004, May 1, 2004, and July 31, 2004.
The representations to Brocade’s shareholders in its annual and quarterly filings about the Company’s
stock option program were untrue. | |
The Scheme to Backdate Option Grants
13. After Brocade became a ‘public company, Brocade had in place stock option plans,
including a plan under which the CEO was given the aﬁthority to grant stock options to employees

(other than senior officers and directors), as the sole member of a “Compensation Committee” that

-acted as the “Administrator” of the plan.

COMPLAINT ’ 4
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14. During the period beginning no later than 2000 through 2004, the CEO used the
authority delegated to him to choose when to grant options to non-officer employees, as well as }iow
many options to grant. To carry out the options grant scheme, the CEO directed employees in the
human resources department to prepare documentation of the options grants to employees for h1s
signature. In particular, the CEO was provided with a list (by name of employee, number of optlons,
hire date for new hires, and other information) of options granted at a purported “Compensation
Committee Meeting” occurring on a given date. The CEO was also simultaneously provided with
Broca.de.’s stock pric.e history over a period of up to three months, highlighting the lowest closing
price during the past period. The CEO signed the documentation for each such grant, attesting that
he, as the sole member of the Compensation Committee had granted the options to the specified
persons on that date. The docurnentation purported to specify the date on which the Compensation
Committee meeting occurred; in reality the date was selected after the fact because it represented the
date with the lowest (or nearly the 1owest) closing stock price in the period.

15. - The minutes of the purported Compensation Committee meeting that documented the

options grants were provided to other persons at Brocade who were responsible for recording the

"grants in Brocade’s books and records and preparing the Company’s financial statements. Because

the documentation falseiy represented that the options were granted on an earlier date and that the
exercise price for the g_rants Was the earlier market price, the Company did not record an expense
related_to_ the grants in its ﬁnancial‘ statements. |

16. On at least nine occasions between January 2, 2001 and July 2, 2002, the Company
provided employees with “in-the-rnoney” options while evading the requirement that it incura
compensation expense related to those grants. These grants (granting options to purchase over 43
million shares) were purported to have occurred on January 2, 2001, April 17, 2001, July 23, 2001,
October 1, 2001, October 30, 2001, November 28,. 2001,J anuary 22,2002, Feliruary 28, 2002, and
July 2, 2002. However, these grant.dates were false and the options were actually granted at a later
time and then backdated to reflect the earlier date. _ |

17. During the 10 consecutive fiscal quarters beginning with Brocade’s third cjuarter

ended July 31, 2000, through the fourth quarter ended October 26, 2002, Brocade granted stock
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option§ to employees at the quarterly low stock price in 8 of the 10 quarters, and with exercise prices
near the quarterly low in the other two quarters, further evidencing that options were being baé_kdéted.

18. Thc scheme to backdate stock options continued during 2003 and 2004. On at least
six occasions between August 15, 2003 and October 20, 2004, Brocade backdated options grants to
provide employees with “in-the-money” options while evading the requirement that Brocade incur a
compensation expense related to those grants. These baékdated grants (granting options to purchase
over 9 million shares of stock) were purportéd Ato have occurred on August 15, 2003, October 20,
2003, January 22, 2004, February 26, 2004, March 22, 2004, and June 21, 2004.

19. DUring Brocade’s five consecutive fiscal quarters beginnihg With the quartef ended
October 26, 2003,'through.the quarter ended October 30, 2004, Brocade made 32 option grants. AOf -
those grants, 19 grants to over 1,000 employeés.(granting options to purchase a total of aﬁpro_ximétely_
16 million.shares) were priced at the weekly low closin‘g pric_e for Brocade’s stock, and an additional
three grants were priced within just $0.03 of the weekly low.

Brocade Falsely Reported its Financial Results

20. The options backdating scheme' caused Brocade to materially misstate its financial
results during the period beginning no later than 2000 throﬁgh 2004. During' this periéd, relying upon
the faléiﬁed Compensation Committee Mecting minutes supplied to them, pérsons working in
Brocade’s finance department recbfded the ﬁauduleﬁt informaﬁon into Brocade’s bdoks and records |
immediately upon receiving the Compensation C‘ommittee Meeting minﬁtgs. From those fraudulent -
books and records,‘fhe_ persons in the finance department incorporated the grants into Brocade’s
financial statemenfs; becausé the documents did not indicate that any in-the-money options had been
graritéd, Brocade failed to record any compensation expense related to the backdated optibns grémts.

21. Broéade also provided the same documentation about grant dates and employeé hiring
to the Company’s external auditors in connection with their annual audits of Brocade’s financial
statements. Relying on the false docmnentation.supplied to them, Brocade’s auditors concurred with
the Company’s assessment that no compénsation expense needed to be recorded for the options

granfed to employees.
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22. Based on the false and misleading 1nformat10n recorded in its books and records,
Brocade filed and pubhcly announced materially false and mlsleadrng financial results for its fiscal
years 2000, 2001, 2002, and 2003, and publicly announced materially false and misleading ﬁnanc1a1
results for fiscal year 2004.

23. Brocade’s failure to file accurate financial statements resulted in an artificial inflation
of the Company’s stock price. During the period that its false financial statements were publicly
available, Brocade engaged in a convertible debt offering and utilized its stock to acquire a company.
During this time, Brocade also filed registration statements with the Commission recording the debt
offerlng as well as multiple stock offerings to Company employees. |

24, Late in 2004, the Audit Committee of Brocade’s board of d1rectors began to
inveStigate allegations by a former employee who claimed to have been issued back—_dated options.
During the course of the Audit Committee’s investigation, Brocade announced a possible_ restatement
on January 6, 2005, and on January 24, 2005 announced restated financial results for 1999 through
200_4, to record expenses for options- grants toempldyees. Brocade' concluded that its ﬁnancial
statements required restatement because the documentation regarding options grants that had been
signed by the CEO was unreliable. The restated results had the following impact: (1) net loss for the
2004 fiscal year increased from $1.3 million to $32 million (i.e., net loss was understated by 95.9%);
(2) net loss for fiscal year 2003 increased from $136 million to $146 million; (3) net income for fiscal
year 2002 increased from $60 million to $126 million; and (4) income for fiscal years 1999 througn
2001 declined by a total of $303 million.

25. - On May 16, 2005, the Company announced a further restatement (filed on amended
Form 10-K dated November 22, 2005) to_lnclude additional s.tock-based compensation expense of
$0.9 million related tvoption‘s grants between August 2003 and November 2004. |

| FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
26. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 25,

above.

COMPLAINT . 7
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27. By engaging in the conduct described above, Brocade, directly or indi_rectly, in the
offer or sale of securities, by the use of the means or ihstruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce orAby use of the mails:

(a) with scienter, employed devices, schemes or artiﬁéés to defraud;
(b) | obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of a material fact or
omissions. to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statéments
- made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and |
(c) engaged in transactions,vpractices, or courses of business which operated or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of securities.

28. ~ Byreason of the foregoing, Brocade has violated, and unless restrained and enjoined

will continue to violate, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a). |

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Acf and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder
29. " The Commission realleges aﬁd incorpofates by reference Paragraphs 1. through 25,
above. ‘

) 30._ By engaging in the condué't described above, Brocade, with scienter, directly'or
indirectly, 1n connecﬁon with the purchase or sale of secun'tiés,_» by use of means or instrumentalities
of inférstate commerce or of the mails, or of facilities of a naﬁonal secu;ritieé. exchangé:

(é) employed de\}ices, schemes, or artifices to defraud;

(b) = made untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were ma.de, not misleading; and

(c) engagéd in acts, practices, or courses of busiriess which operated or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons, including purchasers and |

sellers of securities.

COMPLAINT -8



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26

27

28

31. By reason of the foregoing, Brocade has violated, and unless restrained anrl enjoined
will continue to violate, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 1‘-0b-5, 17
C.FR. § 240.10b-5. | o |
| THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1,
| | and 13a-13 Thereunder

32. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragrephs 1 through 25,
above. |

33. Based on the conduct alleged above, Brocade violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, |
and 240.13a-13, which obligate issuers of securities regivstered pursuant to the Exchange Act to file
with the Commission annual and qlrarterly reports that, arhong other things, do not contain untrue
statements of material fact or omit to state material information necessary in order to make the |

statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act
34. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 25 above.. |
35. Based on the conduct alleged aboVe, Brocade 'Violéted Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the _
Exchange Act, 15 USC §78m(b)(2)(A), which oblrgates issuers of securities registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 781, to make and keep books, records, and accounts,
which, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions andl dispositions of fhe assets

of the issuer.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act
36. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 25 above.
37. Based on the conduct alleged above, Brocade violated Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(2)(B), which obligates issuers of securities registered pursuant‘to

COMPLAINT - . ' 9
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| Section 12 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78/, to devise and maintain a sufficient system of

internal accounting controls.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court:
L
Issue an order pemdnéntly restraining and énjoinjng Defendant and its agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and assigns, and those persons in active concert or participation with them,
from viélating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15U.8.C. § 77q(a), and Sections 10(b), 13(a),
13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exéhange Act, 15U.S.C. §8§ 77q(a), 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A),
78m(b)(2)(B), and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 132-13 and 13a-14 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-
5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-13 and 240.13a—14. ‘ o
| IL
Issue an order directing Defendant to disgorge all wrongfully obtain_ed'beneﬁts, plus
prejudgment inferesf. ' | |
.

Issue an order directing Defendant to pay civil monetary penaltieé under Section 20(d) of the
Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(d), and Section 21(d)(3) of the ’E)-(change Act,15US.C. §§
78u(d)(3). | | |

‘ Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with thé principles of equity and the Federal
Rules of Civil Probedure in order 't'o implement and carry out the terms of all ofders and decrées that
may b'e. enteréd, or to entertain any suitable application or motion for additional relief within the

jurisdiction of this Court.
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Grant such other and further relief as this Court may determirie to be just and _necessary.

Dated: May 30, 2007
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Respectfully submitted,

Attorney for Plaintiff
SECURITIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION
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